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INTRODUCTION AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND1 

Plaintiffs Wisconsin Resources Protection Council, Center for Biological 

Diversity, and Laura Gauger (collectively, ―Plaintiffs‖), by their undersigned attorneys, 

submit this brief in support of their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on liability 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 and the Court‘s Preliminary Pretrial 

Order (Dkt # 12). 

Plaintiffs bring this action seeking civil penalties, declaratory and injunctive 

relief, and an award of costs and fees for Defendant‘s violations of the Federal Water 

Pollution Control Act, commonly known as the Clean Water Act (―CWA‖), 33 U.S.C. § 

1251 et seq.  PPFOF ¶ 1.  

Since at least 1993, Defendant Flambeau Mining Company (―Defendant‖) has 

owned the Flambeau Mine on its property located at N4100 Highway 27, Ladysmith, 

Wisconsin.  PPFOF ¶¶6, 72-73.  Defendant actively mined its property for copper, silver, 

and gold from 1993 to 1997, PPFOF ¶ 72, and the mine has been partially reclaimed; 

however, several related industrial buildings, facilities and structures remain in place 

and in use.  PPFOF ¶¶ 74-75, 147.  Defendant calls one of those remaining structures a 

―Biofilter‖ and uses it to detain and partially treat runoff from an approximately 32-acre 

business and industrial park known as the ―Industrial Outlot.‖  PPFOF ¶¶74-78, 162-

164.  The Biofilter collects, channelizes, stores, and periodically discharges stormwater 

containing several pollutants, including copper and zinc, to a small adjacent stream 

                                                 
1 Plaintiffs provide a short factual overview for the Court‘s convenience, but their complete 

factual propositions are contained in Plaintiffs‘ Proposed Findings of Fact filed herewith. 
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known as ―Stream C,‖ which then flows into the Flambeau River.  PPFOF ¶¶ 78, 88-89, 

98, 164-167.  These pollutants have their origin in the industrial activities around the 

Industrial Outlot, including the residuals from Defendant‘s mining, crushing and 

loading of copper-bearing ore.  PPFOF ¶¶ 132-153. 

Plaintiffs brought this CWA enforcement action to abate Defendant‘s unlawful 

discharges of pollutants, including copper, iron, and zinc, to Stream C and the 

Flambeau River.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  PPFOF ¶¶ 1-2.  Plaintiffs themselves, or their 

members, enjoy recreating on and near the Flambeau River and this action furthers their 

individual or respective organization‘s interests.  PPFOF ¶¶ 60, 71.  By this motion for 

partial summary judgment, Plaintiffs request that the Court find: (1) that they have 

standing under Article III of the U.S. Constitution to bring this case; and (2) that 

Defendant is liable for discharging in violation of the CWA on 23 separate occasions.2  

Remaining for trial will then be: (1) claims for additional dates on which Defendant 

discharged in violation of the CWA; and (2) the Court‘s determination of remedy, 

including the appropriate injunctive relief and amount of civil penalties. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction to enforce the prohibition in 33 U.S.C. § 

1311(a) pursuant to the Act‘s ―citizen suit‖ provision, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1).  The 

Western District of Wisconsin is the appropriate venue because Defendant‘s property 

                                                 
2 Plaintiffs contend that other violations are provable but have not moved for a finding as a 

matter law on those. 
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and facility-- where the illegal discharge occurs-- lies within this District.  PPFOF ¶ 7; 33 

U.S.C. § 1365(c)(1). 

More than 60 days prior to filing this action, Plaintiffs identified the violations 

alleged in the Complaint and gave Defendant notice of Plaintiffs‘ intent to file the 

instant suit by letter dated November 16, 2010.  PPFOF ¶¶ 8, 10.  Plaintiffs also gave the 

requisite notice to the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection 

Agency (―EPA‖), the Regional Administrator of EPA Region 5, and the Secretary of the 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (―WDNR‖).  PPFOF ¶ 9.  Neither EPA nor 

the State of Wisconsin has commenced or is diligently prosecuting any civil or criminal 

action against Defendant to abate the violations that form the basis for this suit.  PPFOF 

¶ 11.   

The CWA authorizes citizen suits against dischargers that are ―alleged to be in 

violation of‖ the Act.  33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1); Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay 

Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 64 (1987); Domino v. Didion Ethanol, LLC, 670 F. Supp. 2d 901, 

918 (W.D. Wis. 2009).  As explained in detail below, Defendant in this case has 

discharged pollutants from the Biofilter since at least 2004 through present.  PPFOF ¶¶ 

93-131.  Plaintiffs have satisfied the jurisdictional requirements of 33 U.S.C. § 1365. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 Summary judgment is appropriate when the admissible evidence contained in 

pleadings, testimony and documents demonstrate that ―there is no genuine dispute as 

to any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.‖  
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Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).   Disputes about facts must be ―genuine;‖ the ―mere existence of a 

scintilla of evidence‖ in support of the nonmoving party is not enough to create a 

dispute.  Andresen v. Liberty Lobby Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 252 (1986).  Moreover, the disputed 

facts must be ―material,‖ such that they would ―affect the outcome of the suit under the 

governing law.‖  Id. at 248.  Thus, disputes as to facts that would not affect the outcome 

under the governing law are irrelevant to the summary judgment process.  Id. 

Motions for partial summary judgment are favored because they ―serve the 

important function[ ] of narrowing issues for trial[.]‖  Joseph P. Caulfield & Assoc. v. Litho 

Prod. Inc., 155 F.3d 883, 888 (7th Cir. 1998).  Summary judgment is especially 

appropriate on the issue of liability for violations of the Clean Water Act because they 

are ―based on strict liability, thus making intent and good faith irrelevant[.]‖  Student 

Pub. Interest Research Group of NJ, Inc. v. Monsanto Co., 600 F. Supp. 1479, 1485 (D.N.J. 

1985); see also Kelly v. EPA, 203 F.3d 519, 522 (7th Cir. 2000) (―nothing in the statute 

makes good faith or a lack of knowledge a defense . . . Civil liability under the Clean 

Water Act, therefore, is strict.‖); see also  Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 913 (finding CWA 

liability on summary judgment) (citing Atlantic States Legal Foundation v. Stroh Die 

Casting Co., 116 F.3d 814, 818 (7th Cir. 1997)); United States v. Murphy Oil USA, Inc., 143 

F. Supp. 2d 1054, 1112 (W.D.Wis. 2001) (same). 
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ARGUMENT 

I. STATUTORY BACKGROUND: THE CLEAN WATER ACT 
 

A. Statutory Framework. 
 

Congress enacted the Clean Water Act in 1972 to ―restore and maintain the 

chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation‘s waters‖ and set a national 

goal of eliminating ―the discharge of pollutants into the navigable waters [of the U.S.]‖  

33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).  To advance this goal, the Act provides a comprehensive approach 

for the regulation of pollution discharged to waters of the United States, expressly 

prohibiting the ―discharge of any pollutant by any person‖ unless that discharge is in 

compliance with the substantive provisions of the Act.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  This 

prohibition is broad, and allows pollutant discharges only under the limited conditions 

specified in the Act.   See U.S. Steel Corp. v. Train, 556 F.2d 822, 829-30 (7th Cir. 1977). 

  The Act defines the ―discharge of any pollutant‖ as ―any addition of any 

pollutant to navigable waters from any point source‖ and the word ―pollutant‖ is 

broadly defined to mean, inter alia, ―dredged spoil, solid waste,‖ ―chemical wastes,‖ 

―rock, sand,‖ ―and industrial, municipal, and agricultural waste discharged into water.‖  

33 U.S.C. § 1362(12)(A), (6) (emphasis added).   The term ―point source‖ is defined as 

―any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any . . . 

channel . . . [or] conduit . . . from which pollutants are or may be discharged.‖  33 U.S.C. 

§ 1362(14).  The CWA defines ―navigable waters‖ to mean ―the waters of the United 

States, including the territorial seas,‖ 33 U.S.C. §§ 1362(7).   
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B. The NPDES Permit Program. 

While point source pollutant discharges are generally prohibited under the 

CWA, Congress established the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

(―NPDES‖) permit program as one mechanism by which such discharges may be 

authorized.3  33 U.S.C. § 1342.  The NPDES program allows the EPA (or a State with an 

EPA-approved permit program) to issue permits authorizing the discharge of 

pollutants into waters of the United States.  33 U.S.C. §§ 1342, 1362(12), (14).  However, 

NPDES permits may only be issued if they contain conditions sufficient to ensure that 

discharges will comply with all applicable CWA requirements, including compliance 

with effluent limitations and water quality standards established under the Act.  33 

U.S.C. § 1342(a)(1).  The effect of the NDPES permit program is thus to transform 

―generally applicable effluent limitations and other standards including those based on 

water quality into obligations . . . of the individual discharger.‖  Steel Corp., 556 F.2d at 

830 (quoting EPA v. California ex rel. State Water Resources Control Board, 426 U.S. 200, 205 

(1976)).   

The prohibition on discharges without a permit applies to storm water; that is, 

water from rain and snow that conveys pollution from industrial activities.  Section 

402(p) of the CWA requires that discharges of ―storm water associated with industrial 

activity‖ comply with the substantive requirements of section 301 and 402 of the Act, 

including the requirements to (1) obtain an NPDES permit and (2) to comply with water 

                                                 
3 Point source discharges of dredged or fill material may also be authorized by the U.S. Army 

Corps of Engineers which issues permits under 33 U.S.C. § 1344, but this separate permit program is not 
applicable to Defendant‘s pollutant discharges. 
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quality standards.  33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(3)(A); Defenders of Wildlife v. Browner, 191 F.3d 

1159, 1164-1165 (9th Cir. 1999).  

C. Citizen Suits Under The Clean Water Act. 

Congress sought to enlist citizens as ―private attorneys general‖ in the fight 

against water pollution, and included in the CWA a citizen suit provision that 

authorizes citizens to file a civil action in federal court against any person alleged to be 

in violation of an ―effluent standard or limitation.‖  Southwest Marine, Inc. v. United 

States, 535 F.3d 1012, 1017 (9th Cir. 2008); see 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1).  Courts have 

jurisdiction to enforce the Act, including the Act‘s prohibition on the discharge of 

pollutants without an NPDES permit.  33 U.S.C. § 1365(a); see also § 1365(f)(1) (defining 

―effluent standard or limitation‖ to include ―an unlawful act‖ under § 1311(a)).  In 

doing so, courts may award injunctive relief, civil penalties, and litigation costs and 

fees.  33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), (d).  The CWA authorizes civil penalties in the amount of up to 

$32,500 per violation per day for violations through January 12, 2009, and $37,500 per 

violation per day for violations after January 12, 2009.  33 U.S.C. §§ 1365(a), 1319(d); 40 

C.F.R. § 19.4.  

The CWA‘s citizen suit provision is crucial for the full and complete enforcement 

of the Act, for it allows citizens to ―abate pollution when the government cannot or will 

not command compliance.‖  Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 

U.S. 49, 62 (1987).  Citizens may essentially ―serve as a check to ensure the state and 

federal governments are diligent in prosecuting Clean Water Act violations.‖  Sierra 

Club v. Hamilton Cty. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs, 504 F.3d 634, 637 (6th Cir. 2007). 
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The CWA is a strict liability statute; negligence or knowledge of wrongdoing is 

not relevant to a finding on liability, and neither good faith nor lack of knowledge will 

provide a defense.  Kelly, 203 F.3d at 522.  Thus, ―[a]ll that is needed to establish a 

violation is proof that a point source polluter violated the terms and conditions of the 

Clean Water Act or a permit issued under the Act.”  Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 913 

(citing Atlantic States Legal Foundation v. Stroh Die Casting Co., 116 F.3d 814, 818 (7th Cir. 

1997)).  Liability under the Clean Water Act can properly be established via summary 

judgment.  See, e.g., Murphy Oil, 143 F. Supp. 2d at 1112; Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 913.   

II. PLAINTIFFS HAVE STANDING TO BRING THIS SUIT 
 

While Congress has granted citizens authority to enforce the CWA through 

private suits, citizen enforcers must still have Article III standing to sue.  The 

requirement that a plaintiff have standing under Article III of the U.S. Constitution is 

designed to ensure that the plaintiff ―has a sufficient stake in an otherwise justiciable 

controversy to obtain judicial resolution of that controversy,‖ Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 

U.S. 727, 731 (1972), and to prevent federal courts from deciding abstract or purely 

hypothetical grievances. Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 566 (1992).    

Plaintiff Gauger, who is an individually-named plaintiff and a member of both 

plaintiff organizations, as well as other members of the respective organizations that are 

Plaintiffs in this case, have all suffered concrete injuries to their aesthetic or recreational 

interests due to Defendant‘s unlawful pollutant discharges, and these injuries will be 

redressed by the relief sought by Plaintiffs.  Moreover, both WRPC and CBD have 
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standing to sue on behalf of their members under Hunt v. Washington State Apple Adver. 

Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333 (1977).  All three Plaintiffs meet the requirements of Article III.  

A. Plaintiff Laura Gauger Has Standing 
 

To establish standing, an individual plaintiff or an individual who is a member 

of an organizational plaintiff must (1) have suffered an ―injury in fact‖ that is (a) 

concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical, 

that is (2) ―fairly traceable‖ to the challenged action of the defendants; and (3) it must be 

likely that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision by the court.  Friends of 

the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 180-81 (citing Lujan v. 

Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-561 (1992)); Sierra Club v. Franklin County Power of 

Ill., LLC, 546 F.3d 918, 925 (7th Cir. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 2866 (2009).  Plaintiff 

Laura Gauger satisfies this three part test. 

1. Ms. Gauger has Suffered an Injury. 

Plaintiffs in environmental suits satisfy the injury in fact requirement of standing 

when by showing that they ―use the affected area and are persons for whom the 

aesthetic and recreational values of the area will be lessened by the challenged activity.‖  

Franklin County, 546 F.3d at 925 (quoting Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 183 (internal quotations 

omitted)); see also Domino, 670 F.2d at 917.  Those who recreate in close proximity to an 

area affected by actual or threatened environmental degradation are able to 

demonstrate an injury because they are more likely to be aware of and care about the 

natural environment at risk.  Ecological Rights Found. v. Pacific Lumber Co., 230 F.3d 1141, 

1149 (9th Cir. 2000); Friends of the Earth v. Consol. Rail Corp., 768 F.2d 57, 61 (2d Cir. 
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1985).  Recreational visits to the affected area alone, even if not regular or routine, give 

rise to a protected aesthetic or recreational interest in that area.  See, e.g., Bensman v. 

United States Forest Serv., 408 F.3d 945, 963 (7th Cir. 2005) (finding standing for a 

plaintiff who had visited the affected area ―about a half-dozen times.‖); Franklin County, 

546 F.3d at 925 (finding standing for an individual who visited the affected area ―every 

other year[.]‖). 

Ms. Gauger is an avid outdoorsperson who has experience recreating and 

travelling on and near the Flambeau River and near Stream C adjacent to the Flambeau 

Mine.  PPFOF ¶¶ 14-17, 26-27.  She has historically enjoyed fishing, wading, picnicking, 

and wildlife observation while on her Flambeau River canoe trips, and has also enjoyed 

hiking on the trails near the Flambeau River and Stream C.  PPFOF ¶ 17.  She has 

visited the mine site dozens of times since approximately 1998, and is aware that 

polluted water flows from the Biofilter into Stream C and the Flambeau River.  PPFOF 

¶¶ 18-25. 

Ms. Gauger has a strong desire to return to the area in the near future for 

canoeing and other recreational activities.  PPFOF ¶ 27.  However, Ms. Gauger is not 

likely to do so because she is aware of Defendant‘s polluted discharge from the Biofilter 

into Stream C and the Flambeau River.  PPFOF ¶ 27.   

Ms. Gauger is concerned that the toxic levels of copper and zinc in the water 

discharged by Defendant and in the waters flowing down Stream C and into the 

Flambeau River may threaten her own health, will negatively affect her enjoyment of 

the aesthetic value of those waters, and may harm the fish and other wildlife that use 
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the river and that she enjoys fishing for and observing.  PPFOF ¶¶ 24-25.  In fact, during 

Ms. Gauger‘s most recent canoe trip to the Flambeau River on October 6, 2011, she 

purposely avoided venturing near or touching the waters at the mouth of Stream C for 

fear of the toxic pollutants that stream is carrying.  PPFOF ¶ 26.   

2. Ms. Gauger’s Injuries are Traceable to the Defendant’s Actions. 
 

A plaintiff‘s injury is ―fairly traceable to the defendant‘s conduct‖ when a 

defendant ―discharge[s] some pollutant [which] . . . contributes to the kinds of injuries 

alleged‖ by the Plaintiff.  Pub. Interest Research Group of NJ, Inc. v. Powell Duffryn 

Terminals Inc., 913 F.2d 64, 72 (3d Cir. 1990); see also Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 180-81; Natural 

Res. Def. Council v. Sw. Marine, Inc., 236 F.3d 985, 995 (9th Cir. 2000); Domino, 670 F. 

Supp. 2d at 917.  It is not necessary that the defendant‘s actions be the sole cause of the 

plaintiff‘s injuries, or that a plaintiff would have undisturbed enjoyment of the 

environment but for the defendant‘s actions.  See Powell Duffryn, 913 F.2d at 72.  Rather, 

causation is readily established where the plaintiff has a rational belief that the 

defendant‘s release of ―some pollutants‖ will impact her enjoyment of the surrounding 

area.  Franklin County, 546 F.3d at 927.  Furthermore, a plaintiff does not need to prove 

―to a scientific certainty‖ that the defendant‘s conduct causes the precise injury alleged.  

Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 917 (citing Tex. Indep. Producers & Royalty Owners Ass’n v. 

EPA, 410 F.3d 964, 973-74 (7th Cir. 2005)); see also Powell Duffryn, 913 F.2d at 72; Nat. Res. 

Def. Council v. Watkins, 954 F.2d 974, 980 n.7 (4th Cir. 1992); Save Our Community v. EPA, 

971 F.2d 1155, 1161 (5th Cir. 1992).  The CWA ―presumes unlawful discharges to reduce 

water quality because definite proof of the proposition is often nearly impossible.‖ 
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Student Pub. Interest Research Group of NJ, Inc. v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 615 F. Supp. 1419, 

1424 (D.N.J. 1985).  

The injuries suffered by Ms. Gauger are fairly traceable to Defendant‘s pollutant 

discharges.  The injuries are directly caused by the pollutants in Stream C that 

ultimately reach the Flambeau River – pollutants that originate, at least in part, from 

Defendant‘s Biofilter discharge.  PPFOF ¶¶ 27-28; 89-92.  Defendant‘s discharges of 

pollutants are not authorized by an NPDES permit or by the Act.  PPFOF ¶¶ 228, 234-

235.  The pollutants discharged by Defendant – including copper and zinc – are 

regulated pollutants, known by both the EPA and WDNR to be toxic to aquatic life at 

elevated concentrations.  PPFOF ¶¶ 154-158.  See Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 917 (noting 

that ―[t]he pollutants that defendant discharged . . . can cause the types of harms 

alleged by plaintiffs.  For example, zinc . . . can be harmful to humans and aquatic 

life.‖); Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 204 F.3d 149, 157 (4th Cir. 

2000) (―copper is particularly toxic to aquatic organisms and can prevent spawning in 

fish‖).  These toxics can harm, or increase the risk of harm to, the very interests sought 

to be protected by Plaintiffs in this case: their right to use and enjoy the receiving waters 

for canoeing, fishing, and wildlife observation, among other uses.  In sum, Defendant‘s 

pollutant discharges ―contribute to‖ the reduced enjoyment Ms. Gauger has in her use 

of Stream C where it meets the Flambeau River.  Powell Duffryn, 913 F.2d at 72. 

3. Ms. Gauger’s Injuries can be Redressed by a Favorable Decision. 

 To satisfy Article III a plaintiff must show that it is likely that ―the injury will be 

redressed by a favorable decision.‖  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181.  That favorable decision 
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need not completely eliminate the plaintiff‘s injury; it is sufficient that an order from the 

Court would reduce the probability of some present or future injury.  See Franklin 

County, 546 F.3d at 927 (citing Mass. v. EPA, 127 S.Ct. 1438, 1458).  Moreover, a plaintiff 

need not show that each and every injury will be relieved by a favorable decision.  Id.   

Where a plaintiff‘s injury is in the form of actual or feared harm to water quality 

because of a defendant‘s unlawful pollutant discharges, ―an injunction will redress that 

injury at least in part[,]‖ regardless of whether the waterway will be ―returned to 

pristine condition.‖ Powell Duffryn, 913 F.2d at 73.  Of course, that injunctive relief need 

not specifically prescribe limitations on the defendant‘s pollutant discharges; it is 

reasonable to presume that even if a discharge permit is later obtained to authorize the 

discharge, it will include limits sufficient to provide some relief to the plaintiff.  See, e.g., 

Franklin County, 546 F.3d at 927-28 (finding redressability where a favorable decision 

would require defendant to obtain a new air pollution permit to operate, even if it 

continues to emit some pollution after the litigation, because it is reasonable to believe 

that the new permit would allow less pollution than defendant was emitting before the 

litigation).  An award of civil penalties will likewise redress a plaintiff‘s injuries, even 

where those penalties are paid to the federal government, because of their deterrent 

effect.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 185-86 (explaining that penalties can ―encourage defendants 

to discontinue current violations and deter them from committing future ones[.]‖); 

Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 917-18. 

In this case, there have been illegal discharges after this suit was filed and thus 

redressability is met.  PPFOF ¶¶ 125-131; see Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 918.  Plaintiffs 
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seek injunctive relief and an award of civil penalties, among other remedies.  Injunctive 

relief, if granted, would redress the injuries suffered by Ms. Gauger because it would 

require Defendant to comply with the zero-discharge requirement of section 301 of the 

Clean Water Act (or, alternatively, obtain an NPDES permit under 402 that places the 

appropriate limitations on its Biofilter discharge), thereby stemming the excessive 

pollution discharged by Defendant into Stream C and the Flambeau River that is 

causing the injuries to her recreational interests. PPFOF ¶ 27.  See Powell Duffryn, 913 

F.2d at 73; Franklin County, 546 F.3d at 927.   An award of civil penalties would also 

redress Plaintiffs‘ injuries because they would deter Defendant from future violations of 

the Clean Water Act that are causing the injuries to the members‘ recreational interests.  

Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 186.  

B. Plaintiff WRPC Has Standing. 

As the Supreme Court has noted, an organization or association has Article III 

standing if:  

(a) its members would otherwise have standing to sue 
in their own right; (b) the interests it seeks to protect 
are germane to the organization's purpose; and (c) 
neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested 
requires the participation of individual members in 
the lawsuit. 

  
Hunt, 432 U.S. at 343; see also Franklin County, 546 F.3d at 924.  As discussed above, the 

first prong is met if members of the respective organizations show (1) injury in fact, (2) 

traceability, and (3) redressability.  The second, ―germane to the organization‘s 

purpose,‖ prong looks at an organization‘s ―general interests that individual members 
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sought to vindicate in joining the association and whether the lawsuit bears a 

reasonable connection to the association‘s knowledge and experience.‖  Bldg. & Constr. 

Trades Council of Buffalo v. Downtown Dev., Inc., 448 F.3d 138, 149 (2nd. Cir. 2006).  And 

the third prong of the Hunt test for representational standing ―is best seen as focusing 

on . . . matters of administrative convenience and efficiency, not on elements of a case or 

controversy within the meaning of the Constitution.‖  United Food & Commercial Workers 

Union v. Brown Group, Inc., 517 U.S. 544, 557 (1996).   

In cases in which an organization seeks a declaration, injunction or other 

prospective relief, ―it can be reasonably supposed that the remedy, if granted, will inure 

to the benefit of those members of the association actually injured.‖  Warth v. Seldin, 422 

U.S. 490, 515 (1975); Retired Chicago Police Ass’n v. City of Chicago, 7 F.3d 584, 602 (7th Cir. 

1993) (citing Warth, 422 U.S. at 515).  Thus, where no damages are sought and the 

organization seeks declaratory and injunctive relief only, ―its claims do not require 

‗individualized proof‘‖ and the third prong is met.  Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council of 

Buffalo, 448 F.3d at 150 (finding that the third Hunt prong was ―clearly satisfied‖ where 

declaratory and injunctive relief were sought under the CWA).  

Plaintiff WRPC has organizational standing to bring this case on behalf of its 

members.  Because individual members of WRPC have recreational and other interests 

in Stream C and the Flambeau River that have been and will continue to be harmed by 

the polluted discharge from Defendant‘s Biofilter, and because protection of those 

waterways, including through litigation seeking abatement, is germane to the purpose 

of WRPC, WRPC has standing under Article III. 
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1. WRPC’s Members would have Standing to Sue in their Own Right. 
 
Plaintiff WRPC relies upon the aesthetic and recreational interests of three 

members for standing purposes:  Plaintiff Laura Gauger, who is an individual plaintiff 

and a member representing WRPC (and CBD, as discussed below); Ms. Lori Andresen, 

also a member of both WRPC (and CBD); and Mr. Harold Flater, a WRPC member who 

resides on the Flambeau River downstream from the Flambeau Mine.  PPFOF ¶¶ 28-29, 

42-43. 

(a) WRPC‘s members have suffered injuries. 

Ms. Gauger has been a member of WRPC at all times relevant to this case.  

PPFOF ¶ 12.  For the reasons set forth in Section II.A., above, Ms. Gauger has 

demonstrated injury in fact in her own right and also as a representative of Plaintiff 

WRPC.   

Ms. Andresen and Mr. Flater have also suffered injuries that satisfy standing.  

Ms. Andresen and Mr. Flater have also been members of WRPC at all times relevant to 

this suit.  PPFOF ¶¶ 29, 42.  Like Ms. Gauger, Ms. Andresen and Mr. Flater have canoed 

or boated on the Flambeau River near the Flambeau Mine and Stream C.  PFFOF ¶¶ 35-

36, 45.  Ms. Andresen has enjoyed fishing, wading, photography, wildlife observation, 

and other aesthetic and recreational pursuits on and near the Flambeau River.  PPFOF 

¶¶ 35-36, 39.  Mr. Flater enjoys fishing in the vicinity of the Flambeau River where it 

meets Stream C, and fishes there about 15 days a year.  PPFOF ¶¶ 43-47.  He owns a 

business, Flater‘s Flambeau Point Resort, located on the Flambeau River downstream 
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from the mine that provides guided fishing and canoe trips to resort guests, including 

on the portion of the Flambeau River where it flows past the mine site.  PPFOF ¶ 44. 

Ms. Andresen and Mr. Flater are familiar with the Flambeau Mine and its 

Biofilter discharge, and are aware that the copper and zinc discharged to Stream C and 

the Flambeau River have on occasion exceeded Wisconsin‘s toxicity criteria designed to 

protect aquatic life and human health.  PPFOF ¶¶ 32-34; 46-50.  Both members (like Ms. 

Gauger) are concerned that Defendant‘s discharges of copper and zinc from the Biofilter 

have, and unless abated will continue to, harm or increase the risk of harm to the fish, 

or other aquatic species and wildlife, in the Flambeau River immediately downstream 

from the mouth of Stream C.  PPFOF ¶¶ 37-38; 50-51.  In fact, Ms. Andresen 

participated in a canoe trip on the Flambeau River with Plaintiff Laura Gauger on 

October 6, 2011, and on that trip she purposefully avoided waters near where Stream C 

enters the Flambeau that she believed to contain elevated levels of copper and zinc, and 

as a result, her enjoyment was diminished.  PPFOF ¶ 39.  Mr. Flater is concerned that if 

the pollutant discharges from the Biofilter and Industrial Outlot continue, they may 

cause or contribute to a reduction in number of fish available to catch in the river or 

otherwise harm the quality of the canoeing and fishing experiences he enjoys and that 

he provides to his guests as part of his business at Flater‘s Resort.  PPFOF ¶¶ 50-51.   

Ms. Andresen and Mr. Flater desire to (and have concrete plans to) return to the 

Flambeau River near Stream C, but their enjoyment of the area will be lessened unless 

Defendant‘s pollutant discharges have been eliminated or substantially reduced.  

PPFOF ¶¶ 40-41; 52. 
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(b) The injuries suffered by WRPC‘s members are traceable to 
the Defendant‘s actions. 

 
The injuries suffered by Ms. Gauger, as explained above, are fairly traceable to 

Defendant‘s pollutant discharges.  The same is true for the injuries of Ms. Andresen and 

Mr. Flater.  The pollutants discharged by Defendant without a permit can harm, or 

increase the risk of harm, to the very interests sought to be protected by Plaintiffs in this 

case: their enjoyment of the receiving waters for canoeing, fishing, and wildlife 

observation, among other uses.  PPFOF ¶¶ 34-37; 47-50; 154-158.  In sum, Defendant‘s 

pollutant discharges ―contribute to‖ the reduced enjoyment Ms. Gauger, Ms. Andresen, 

and Mr. Flater have in their use of Stream C where it meets the Flambeau River.  Powell 

Duffryn, 913 F.2d at 72. 

(c) The injuries suffered by WRPC‘s members can be redressed 
by a favorable decision. 
 

As discussed in Section II.A. above, the harm to Ms. Gauger would be avoided (if 

all discharges are stopped) or reduced (if Defendant ultimately obtains a permit 

allowing some discharge within appropriate limits) by a favorable decision in this 

lawsuit granting Plaintiffs injunctive relief.  Similarly, the harm to Ms. Andresen and 

Mr. Flater would also be redressed by a favorable decision because an order prohibiting 

Defendant‘s illegal discharges will decrease or eliminate the heavy metal discharges 

through Stream C and into the Flambeau River.  An award of civil penalties would also 

redress Plaintiffs‘ injuries because they would deter Defendant from future violations of 

the Clean Water Act that caused the injury at issue in this case.  See Franklin County, 546 

F.3d at 927; Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 918. 
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2. The Interests WRPC Seeks to Protect in this Litigation are 
Germane to its Purpose. 
 

    WRPC is a non-profit membership organization, incorporated under the laws 

of the state of Wisconsin, with a stated and long-established mission of protecting the 

public health and the environment of Wisconsin from the impacts of Mining.  PPFOF 

¶¶ 53-54.  WRPC seeks to protect the air, land, and waters of Wisconsin from pollution 

in order to benefit its members and the general public.  PPFOF ¶¶ 55-56.  WRPC has 

past involvement in issues affecting the Flambeau Mine, including the 2007 Certificate 

of Completion of the reclamation process through a contested case hearing, to protect 

the interests of its members.  PPFOF ¶ 58.  Therefore, the second requirement for 

representational standing—that the interests sought to be protected by the action are 

germane to the purpose of the organization—is also met.  Hunt, 432 U.S. at 343; Bldg. & 

Constr. Trades Council of Buffalo, 448 F.3d at 149.  

3. Neither the Claims Asserted nor the Relief Requested Require the 
Participation of WRPC’s Individual Members. 

 
The claims raised in this suit derive primarily from Defendant‘s own water 

quality monitoring at the Flambeau Mine site and on other public records obtained 

from WDNR.  Although Ms. Gauger is interested in protecting her rights as an 

individual, her participation is not necessary for the proof of the claims.  Other than to 

establish standing, no one particular member‘s involvement is required to make the 

claims.  Similarly, the appropriate remedies sought are those authorized by the CWA 

itself in the citizen suit provision:  injunctive relief and sanctions, not damages.  33 

U.S.C. § 1365(a), (d).  The participation of individual WRPC members is therefore not 
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required in this suit and the organization meet the third prong.  Bldg. & Const. Trades 

Council of Buffalo, 448 F.3d at 150 (finding the third Hunt factor met in CWA case seeking 

injunctive relief and sanctions).   

C. Plaintiff CBD Has Standing. 

CBD has organizational standing to bring this case on behalf of its members.  

Individual members of CBD have recreational and other interests in Stream C where it 

meets the Flambeau River that have been and will continue to be harmed by the 

polluted discharge from Defendant‘s Biofilter unless abated, and because protection of 

those waterways is germane to the purpose of CBD, thus CBD has standing under 

Article III. 

1. CBD’s Members would have Standing to Sue in their Own Right. 
 

Plaintiff CBD relies upon the aesthetic and recreational interests of two of its 

members:  Ms. Gauger and Ms. Andresen.  Ms. Gauger and Ms. Andresen have been 

member of CBD at all times relevant to this action.  PPFOF ¶¶ 13, 28.  Their individual 

standing to sue is explained above.  Because they have proven the requisite injury in 

fact, traceability and redressability for individual standing, CBD meets the first prong in 

the organizational standing test.  

2. The Interests CBD Seeks to Protect in this Litigation are Germane 
to its Purpose. 
 

The Center for Biological Diversity is a national non-profit membership 

organization with several hundred members in Wisconsin.  PPFOF ¶ 61.  CBD works to 

advance conservation efforts nationwide, and has a specific focus on the protection of 
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threatened and endangered species and their habitats.  PPFOF ¶¶ 62-65.  The area near 

the Flambeau Mine, including the Flambeau River that receives Defendant‘s pollutant 

discharges, is known to provide habitat to at least five species listed as threatened or 

endangered by the State of Wisconsin.  PPFOF ¶ 69.   

Moreover, CBD recognizes that the protection of wildlife habitat from the 

harmful impacts of toxic water pollution can help prevent species from becoming 

threatened or endangered in the first place, PPFOF ¶¶ 65-68, 70, and thus CBD uses the 

citizen suit provisions of laws like the Clean Water Act to protect such species, the 

habitat they use, and the interests of their members and the general public in those 

species and habitats. PPFOF ¶¶ 67-68, 71.  Therefore, CBD satisfies the requirement of 

germaneness.  See Hunt, 432 U.S. at 343; Franklin County, 546 F.3d at 924.   

3. Neither the Claims Asserted nor the Relief Requested Require the 
Participation of CBD’s Individual Members. 
 

For the same reasons that individual participation is not required of WRPC 

members, above, it is also not required of CBD‘s members.  Thus, CBD has met each 

prong for organizational standing.  See Bldg. & Const. Trades Council of Buffalo, 448 F.3d 

at 150. 

III. DEFENDANT VIOLATED THE CLEAN WATER ACT BY DISCHARGING 
POLLUTANTS FROM A POINT SOURCE TO NAVIGABLE WATERS 
WITHOUT AN NPDES PERMIT ON AT LEAST 23 OCCASIONS. 
 
As noted above, Congress prohibited ―the discharge of any pollutant by any 

person‖ unless the discharge meets specific prerequisites.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) (emphasis 

added).  Congress has broadly defined ―discharge of a pollutant‖ as ―any addition of 
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any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source,‖ and further defined ―point 

source‖ as ―any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance . . . from which 

pollutants are or may be discharged.‖ 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12), (14).  Thus a person violates 

the § 1311(a) prohibition every time that it:  

(1) discharges (or adds);  

(2) a pollutant; 

(3) from a point source;  

(4) to navigable waters;  

(5) without a permit. 

33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1362(12), (14); Beartooth Alliance v. Crown Butte Mines, 904 F. Supp. 

1168, 1172 (D. Mont. 1995) (citing Mokelumne River, 13 F.3d at 308); National Wildlife 

Fed'n v. Gorsuch, 224 U.S. App. D.C. 41, 693 F.2d 156, 165 (D.C. Cir. 1982).  Because the 

undisputed facts demonstrate that Defendant has violated § 1311(a) on 23 occasions by 

adding copper and zinc to Stream C and the Flambeau River from its Biofilter without a 

permit, Plaintiffs are entitled to a finding of liability as to these 23 occasions. 

A. Defendant Has Added Stormwater Containing Copper and Zinc From 
The Biofilter To Stream C. 

 
  In this case, the undisputed evidence shows that Defendant has discharged 

pollutants to Stream C and the Flambeau River, thus meeting the first element of 

Plaintiffs‘ claim.  Under the CWA, to discharge a pollutant, a point source must merely 

convey a pollutant to the receiving water, whether by human or by natural processes.  

Sierra Club v. El Paso Gold Mines, 421 F.3d 1133, 1145 (10th Cir. 2005).  A mine operator is 
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liable for discharging as long as some point source on the mine property – whether 

intended or not -- conveys pollutants to a navigable water.  Abston Construction 620 F.2d 

at 45.   

Defendant‘s Biofilter collects and then delivers pollutants to Stream C.  

Defendant‘s design plans submitted to the WDNR repeatedly confirm that the Biofilter 

was designed and intended to discharge to Stream C.  PPFOF ¶ 78.  This intent to 

discharge is reflected in the pre-construction plans for the Biofilter as well as numerous 

work plans developed by Defendant and submitted to WDNR.  PPFOF ¶¶ 78-84.  A 

more recent work plan, submitted by Defendant to the WDNR in May of 2011, clearly 

indicates the engineered discharge and ―flow direction‖ from the Biofilter into Stream 

C. PPFOF ¶ 87.  

Moreover, Defendant‘s numerous admissions clearly establish that the Biofilter 

does in fact discharge to Stream C and, ultimately, the Flambeau River on a recurring 

basis.  Such admissions have taken place, inter alia, in Defendant‘s Annual Reports; 

various monitoring plans and other formal submittals to WDNR; and statements made 

by Defendant to its contractors and the public.  PPFOF ¶¶ 78-87.  In this case, Defendant 

has admitted that the water overflows through the Biofilter‘s Outlet whenever the 

Biofilter exceeds its holding capacity, and that on all such occasions both copper and 

zinc are carried with the discharging water.  PPFOF ¶ 88, 90-91.4  In short, the Biofilter 

clearly was designed to, and does in fact, direct stormwater from portions of the 

                                                 
4 Defendant also admits in filings before this Court that stormwater ―intermittently flows to 

Stream C out of the biofilter[.]‖  Doc. #18-1 at 14 n.8; see also id. at 1, 14, 15, 16, and 17 (repeatedly 
acknowledging ―the biofilter storm water discharge‖). 
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Industrial Outlot to Stream C.  Defendant cannot genuinely contradict these multiple 

admissions made over the course of many years. 

Finally, specific dates of discharges of copper and zinc from the Biofilter to 

Stream C are well documented by both Defendant‘s and WDNR‘s water quality 

monitoring activities at the Biofilter‘s Outlet, as well as numerous witness observations 

of the discharge.  WDNR biologist Craig Roelser observed the Biofilter discharging to 

Stream C on the three dates he collected samples of that discharge.  PPFOF ¶¶ 122, 125, 

128.  Dr. John Coleman, a tribal biologist, observed the Biofilter discharging to Stream C 

on additional dates.  PPFOF ¶¶ 93-95.  Finally, Defendant admits that additional 

discharges occurred on at least 16 occasions when it collected water samples from the 

Biofilter‘s Outlet.  PPFOF ¶¶ 96-121, 131. 

The undisputed facts of this case establish that discharges from the Biofilter into 

Stream C occurred on at least the following dates, which for purposes of this motion 

entitle Plaintiffs to a finding of liability: 

Table 1: Dates of Biofilter Discharges 

Discharge  
Number 

Date of Discharge from 
Biofilter to Stream C 

Plaintiffs’ Proposed  
Finding of Fact 

1 April 19, 2004 PPFOF ¶ 93  

2 June 3, 2004 PPFOF ¶ 94 

3 August 18, 2004 PPFOF ¶ 95 

4 September 15, 2004 PPFOF ¶ 96 

5 October 23, 2004 PPFOF ¶ 97 

6 April 6, 2005 PPFOF ¶ 98 

7 April 26, 2005 PPFOF ¶ 99  

8 June 9, 2005 PPFOF ¶ 100  

9 August 3, 2006 PPFOF ¶¶ 101-102  

10 October 4, 2006 PPFOF ¶¶ 103-104 

11 November 28, 2006 PPFOF ¶¶ 105-106 

12 May 24, 2007 PPFOF ¶¶ 107-108 

Case: 3:11-cv-00045-bbc   Document #: 53   Filed: 11/16/11   Page 30 of 58



25 
 

13 September 21, 2007 PPFOF ¶ 109 

14 April 25, 2008 PPFOF ¶¶ 110-111  

15 October 27, 2008 PPFOF ¶¶ 112-113 

16 April 25, 2009 PPFOF ¶¶ 114-115 

17 October 3, 2009 PPFOF ¶¶ 116-117 

18 April 16, 2010 PPFOF ¶¶ 118-119 

19 September 17, 2010 PPFOF ¶¶ 120-121 

20 October 26, 2010 PPFOF ¶¶ 122-124 

21 April 27, 2011 PPFOF ¶¶ 125-127 

22 June 19, 2011 PPFOF ¶¶ 128-130 

23 September 27, 2011 PPFOF ¶ 131 

 

 In sum, FMC discharges into Stream C, and Plaintiffs are entitled to a finding of 

liability on the first element of their claim. 

B. Defendant’s Discharges Include “Pollutants” Under the Clean Water 
Act. 
 

Defendant‘s Biofilter discharges meet the second element of CWA liability 

because the substances it is discharging– including the metals copper and zinc – are 

―pollutants‖ under the Act. 

The CWA defines ―pollutant‖ to mean, inter alia: 

dredged spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, 
garbage, sewage sludge, munitions, chemical wastes, 
biological materials, radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or 
discarded equipment, rock, sand, cellar dirt and industrial, 
municipal, and agricultural waste discharged into water. 

 
33 U.S.C. § 1362(6).  The terms used in that list including ―solid waste,‖ ―chemical 

wastes,‖ and ―industrial wastes‖ have been broadly construed.  Sierra Club, Lone Star 

Chapter v. Cedar Point Oil Co., 73 F.3d 546, 567 (5th Cir. 1996) (collecting cases).   

Here, there is no question that copper and zinc are ―pollutants.‖  Not only do 

those chemical elements fit within the plain language of the broad statutory definition, 
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but caselaw and EPA regulations also confirm that they are pollutants.  Federal courts 

interpreting the CWA have widely held that copper and zinc in runoff from both active 

and abandoned mines are pollutants under § 1326(6).  Mokelumne River, 13 F.3d at 306, 

308 (finding channelized stormwater runoff from an abandoned copper mine, which 

contained, inter alia, copper, iron, and zinc, was the ―discharge of pollutants‖); Beartooth 

Alliance, 904 F. Supp. at 1172 (noting that ―[a]cid mine drainage is composed, in part, of 

copper and zinc which are considered pollutants‖); Sierra Club v. Abston Const., 620 F.2d 

41, 43 (5th Cir. 1980) (stormwater overflowing from a sediment basin at a coal mine was 

the discharge of pollutants under the CWA); see also Domino, 670 F. Supp. 2d at 905 

(―Zinc is a heavy metal that can be toxic to humans and aquatic life.‖).   

 Furthermore, EPA has long regulated considered copper and zinc as chemical, 

industrial, or solid wastes, and therefore ―pollutants‖ under the Act.  Both copper and 

zinc are defined by EPA as ―toxic pollutants‖ under CWA § 304(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1314(a).  

40 C.F.R. § 401.15 (containing EPA‘s list of toxic pollutants); see also 72 Fed. Reg. 7983, 

7985 (Feb. 22, 2007) (issuing a revised water quality criterion for copper and noting that 

―elevated levels of copper have been linked to adverse effects on aquatic organisms‖).5 

―Toxic pollutants‖ are, by definition, ―pollutants‖ under the Act.  See 33 U.S.C. § 

1362(13) (defining ―toxic pollutant‖ to be ―pollutants, or combinations of pollutants…‖).  

EPA and WDNR regulate both zinc and copper as ―pollutants.‖  U.S. EPA, Quality 

                                                 
5 As EPA explains: ―[a]n EPA recommended ambient water quality criterion is a description of 

the amount of a pollutant or other measurable substance in water that, when met, will protect aquatic life 
and/ or human health.‖  72 Fed. Reg. at 7984. 
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Criteria for Water 483 (July 1976)6 (explaining that ―[t]oxic concentrations of zinc 

compounds cause adverse changes to the morphology and physiology of fish.‖); Wis. 

Admin. Code § NR 105.06, Tables 2, 6 (establishing acute and chronic water quality 

criteria for copper and zinc). 

Additionally, discharges of pollutant-bearing stormwater specifically from 

inactive mines have long been fully incorporated in to the NPDES permit program as 

regulated pollutant discharges.  See 55 Fed. Reg. at 48,033 (requiring NPDES permit 

coverage for ―contaminated runoff from inactive . . . mines‖ in part ―because some 

mining sites represent a significant source of contaminated stormwater runoff.‖).7  EPA 

currently regulates both copper and zinc (among other metals) as wastes and pollutants 

when contained in the discharge of stormwater from both active and inactive copper 

ore mines under its industrial stormwater NPDES permit authorities.8   

Defendant‘s Biofilter discharge, which results from stormwater runoff that has 

contacted mining and industrial wastes and contains elevated copper and zinc, is the 

discharge of ―pollutants‖ under the CWA.  The Biofilter was specifically intended by 

Defendant to collect particulates carried by runoff from the Industrial Outlot since its 

creation in 1999.  PPFOF ¶¶ 80, 82, 85.  Past and present industrial activities (including 

                                                 
6 EPA‘s Quality Criteria for Water is available at http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/ 

standards/current/upload/2009_01_13_criteria_redbook.pdf. 

7 EPA has also explicitly recognized that inactive mines ―require [NPDES] permit coverage until 
reclaimed because significant materials may remain on-site, and, if exposed, are potential sources of 
stormwater contamination.‖  U.S. EPA Office of Water, Industrial Stormwater Fact Sheet Series, Sector G: 
Metal Mining (Ore Mining and Dressing Facilities) 9 (December 2006), available at 
http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/sector_g_metalmining.pdf. 

8 See U.S. EPA, Multi-Sector General Permit for Stormwater Discharges Associated with Industrial 
Activity at 67, Table 8.G-2, available at http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/msgp2008_finalpermit.pdf. 
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ore crushing and hauling and byproduct storage and disposal) have taken place in the 

Industrial Outlot.  PPFOF ¶¶ 132-150.    Defendant admits that the Industrial Outlot has 

demonstrated residual elevated levels of copper in the soils and sediments.  PPFOF ¶¶ 

133-143, 145-146, 149-150. 9  Further, Defendant itself has identified historic ―ore 

handling activities‖ as one source of copper PPFOF ¶ 134.  Additional sources of copper 

include the soils and sediments near the former rail spur, wastewater treatment facility, 

and storage buildings on the Industrial Outlot.  PPFOF ¶¶ 138-143.  Defendant also 

admits that runoff from these areas of its Industrial Outlot drains into the Biofilter.  

PPFOF ¶¶ 86, 164.  The Industrial Outlot is also currently being used for active 

industrial purposes (an Xcel energy maintenance shop, among others). PPFOF ¶¶ 76.  

The water discharged from Defendant‘s Biofilter to Stream C has been shown by 

Defendant‘s laboratory analyses (and independent WDNR analyses) to contain elevated 

levels of copper and zinc – levels that, in the case of copper, routinely exceed 

Wisconsin‘s acute toxicity criterion established to protect aquatic life.  PPFOF ¶¶ 102, 

104, 106, 108, 111, 113, 115, 117, 119, 121, 124, 127, 130.  Indeed, Defendant admits that 

                                                 
9 Defendant‘s own monitoring data show that concentrations of copper within the Biofilter‘s 

sediments in 2008 ranged from 360 mg/kg to 2,100 mg/kg, PPFOF ¶ 152, and WDNR‘s 2010 Biofilter 
sediment sampling revealed copper concentrations of 1,550 to 2,450 mg/kg.  PPFOF ¶ 153.  By 
comparison, Defendant‘s regional soil sampling activities in 2008 found soil copper concentrations 
ranging from just 7.8 mg/kg north of the reclaimed mine pit to 290 mg/kg near a structure Defendant 
calls the ―H&H Building.‖  PPFOF ¶ 151.  In other words, accumulated sediment in the Biofilter contains 
copper at much higher concentrations than copper concentrations found in area soils.  Stormwater from 
the Industrial Outlot is directed to flow over these copper-laden sediments on its way to Stream C. 
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copper and zinc are always contained in the water that discharges from the Biofilter.  

PPFOF ¶¶ 90-91;  see also Table 1, supra Section III.A.10   

In short, because Defendant‘s Biofilter discharge contains zinc and copper, it 

contains ―solid waste,‖ ―chemical waste‖ and/or ―industrial wastes,‖ which are 

―pollutants‖ subject to regulation under the CWA.  There is no material dispute as to 

the second element of Plaintiffs‘ claim. 

C. Defendant’s Biofilter is a “Point Source” Under the Clean Water Act. 

Defendant‘s Biofilter is a ―point source‖ under the Clean Water Act.  The Act 

defines ―point source‖ expansively to include ―any discernible, confined and discrete 

conveyance . . . from which pollutants are or may be discharged.‖ 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14).  

By its very definition, a point source is merely a ―conveyance‖ anywhere along the 

route from pollution source to receiving water; the conveyance and the original source 

of the pollutants need not be the same thing.  S. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist. v. Miccosukee 

Tribe of Indians, 541 U.S. 95, 105 (2004); see also Froebel v. Meyer, 217 F.3d 928, 937-38 (7th 

Cir. 2000) (explaining that the term point source ―connotes the terminal end of an 

artificial system for moving water, waste, or other materials‖).  Congress intended the 

CWA‘s definition of point source to ―embrace[] the broadest possible definition of any 

identifiable conveyance from which pollutants might enter waters of the United States.‖  

U.S. v. Earth Sciences, Inc., 599 F.2d 368 (10th Cir. 1979); see also Abston Construction, 620 

F.2d at 45.  This broad definition includes discharges that begin as stormwater runoff 

                                                 
10

 In fact, Defendant‘s own sampling activities revealed that the copper concentration in the water 
flowing out of the Biofilter on September 27, 2011 (42 µg/L) actually exceeded the copper concentration 
in the water entering the Biofilter the day before (17 µg/L).  PPFOF ¶ 131. 
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but are subsequently collected and channelized prior to discharge.  40 C.F.R. § 122.2 

(―Discharge of a pollutant means . . . additions of pollutants into waters of the United 

States from . . . surface runoff which is collected or channelled by man[.]‖); Northwest 

Envtl. Def. Ctr. v. Brown, 640 F.3d 1063, 1070-71 (9th Cir. 2011) (―when stormwater 

runoff is collected in a system of ditches, culverts, and channels and is then discharged 

into a stream or river, there is a ‗discernable, confined and discrete conveyance‘ of 

pollutants, and there is therefore a discharge from a point source‖); Abston Construction, 

620 F.2d at 45 (―Gravity flow, resulting in a discharge into a navigable body of water, 

may be part of a point source discharge if the [discharger] at least initially collected or 

channeled the water and other materials.‖).   

Defendant‘s Biofilter collects and channelizes stormwater from the Industrial 

Outlot, and therefore is easily categorized as a point source.  Notably, a number of 

courts have held that stormwater detention basins and catchment systems at active and 

abandoned mines are CWA point sources.  In Mokelumne River, for example, the court 

found that defendant‘s system of dams and impoundments ―designed to capture 

contaminated surface water flowing through the site, and to contain . . . the water 

through a ponding and recirculation system‖ was a point source.  13 F.3d. at 307-08; see 

also Consolidation Coal Co. v. Costle, 604 F.2d 239, 249-50 (4th Cir. 1979) (slurry ponds, 

drainage ponds, and coal refuse piles found to be point sources); Trustees for Alaska v. 

EPA., 749 F.2d 549, 557-58 (9th Cir. 1984) (finding a placer mine‘s ―sluice box‖ to be a 

point source); Earth Sciences, 599 F.2d at 374 (holding that unintentional overflow of 
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mining drainage systems designed to catch runoff was a point source discharge under 

the CWA).    

 The undisputed facts show that Defendant‘s Biofilter is a ―point source‖ under 

the Act.  The Biofilter is an artificial stormwater detention basin intended to collect and 

detain stormwater from within the Industrial Outlot prior to discharge to Stream C.  

PPFOF ¶¶ 162, 164.  What Defendant had once called a ―surge pond‖ during active 

mining operations (which at the time was an integrated component of Defendant‘s 

wastewater treatment system, PPFOF ¶ 159-161) was converted to the Biofilter after 

active mining ceased, PPFOF ¶ 161.  The surge pond had an artificial liner that was kept 

in place when it was converted to the Biofilter.  PPFOF ¶ 161.  The Biofilter then directs 

the collected runoff through a narrow ―outlet‖ or ―outfall‖11 which leads to Stream C.   

PPFOF ¶ 165-166.  

Thus, just like the stormwater basins and detention ponds were held to be point 

sources in Earth Sciences and Mokelumne River, Defendant‘s Biofilter is a man-made 

feature which channels stormwater runoff into a clearly defined point source discharge 

in this case.  See Earth Sciences, 599 F.2d at 374 (―whether from a fissure in the dirt berm 

or overflow of a wall, the escape of liquid from the confined system is from a point 

source‖); Mokelumne, 13 F.3d. at 307-08.  It represents the ―terminal end of [Defendant‘s] 

artificial system for moving water, waste, or other materials‖ from the Industrial Outlot 

into Stream C.  Froebel, 217 F.3d at 937.   

                                                 
11

 This outlet is essentially a notch or low point, with an ―apron‖ of rock or rip-rap, in the berm 
that surrounds the Biofilter.  PPFOF ¶ 166. 
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The uncontested facts demonstrate that the Biofilter is a point source as a matter 

of law and, thus, Plaintiffs are entitled to a finding on the third element of their claim.   

D. Both Stream C and the Flambeau River are “Navigable Waters” 
protected by the Clean Water Act. 
 

The waters receiving Defendant‘s Biofilter discharge, Stream C and the Flambeau 

River, are both ―navigable waters‖ under the CWA, thus satisfying the fourth element 

of liability under the Act.   

The CWA prohibits discharges to ―navigable waters,‖ defined to mean ―the 

waters of the United States, including the territorial seas,‖ 33 U.S.C. §§ 1362(7), (12).  

The parties agree that the Flambeau River is itself navigable, PPFOF ¶ 168, and the 

undisputed facts show that Stream C is a ―navigable water‖ under the CWA under any 

of three alternative legal tests.  First, Stream C itself, is navigable in fact, as determined 

by the WDNR, and therefore is a jurisdictional water under the plain language of 33 

U.S.C. §§ 1362(7).  Second, even if it were not navigable itself, Stream C is a tributary to 

the larger, navigable Flambeau River, and is thus a ―water of the United States‖ under 

EPA‘s long-established regulatory definition of that phrase in 40 C.F.R. § 122.2(e).  And 

third, even if it were neither navigable itself nor a tributary to a navigable river, Stream 

C has a ―significant nexus‖ with the Flambeau River because it delivers pollutants to, 

and affects the physical, chemical, and biological integrity of, that river.  This ―nexus‖ 

would also make Stream C a jurisdictional water of the U.S.  Plaintiffs are therefore 

entitled to summary judgment on this element of their Clean Water Act claims. 
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1. The Flambeau River and Stream C are both “Navigable Waters” 
Under the Clean Water Act because they are Navigable In Fact. 
 

A waterway that is itself navigable is protected under the plain language of the 

statute, and further analysis is not required to establish CWA.  33 U.S.C. § 1362(7); 

United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 133 (U.S. 1985).  This includes 

rivers that are capable of being navigated for recreational purposes.  See 40 C.F.R. § 

122.2 (defining ―waters of the United States‖ to include streams ―[w]hich are or could 

be used by interstate or foreign travelers for recreational or other purposes).   

(a) The Flambeau River is navigable in fact. 

The Flambeau River is undisputedly navigable, and Defendant admits as much.  

PPFOF ¶ 168.  Indeed, Plaintiff Laura Gauger and several other WRPC and CBD 

members have canoed the section of the Flambeau River adjacent to the Flambeau Mine.  

PPFOF ¶ 169.  Thus Defendant‘s discharges to the Flambeau River are to ―navigable 

waters‖ under 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7). 

(b) Stream C is navigable in fact. 
 

Stream C is also protected by the plain language of the CWA as a ―navigable 

water.‖  WDNR field investigations in 1988 (prior to the commencement of Defendant‘s 

mining operations) led the agency to conclude that the lower section of Stream C ―could 

be navigated on a recurring basis‖ and that ―the entire reach of stream from highway 27 

to the Flambeau River could be navigable‖ depending on weather conditions.  PPFOF ¶ 

172.   

Case: 3:11-cv-00045-bbc   Document #: 53   Filed: 11/16/11   Page 39 of 58



34 
 

In fact, the navigability of Stream C was adjudicated by Defendant and others in 

1991 as part of a Master Hearing before the Wisconsin Division of Hearings and 

Appeals.12  Notably, the ALJ found that ―based on flow records and physical evidence 

at the site, stream C has . . . been determined to be navigable.‖  PPFOF ¶ 173.  The ALJ 

also identified Stream C as the stream that ―originates on the east side of highway 27, 

drains the southeast corner of the [Flambeau Mine] site and enters the Flambeau  River 

immediately north of the mouth of Meadowbrook Creek.‖  PPFOF ¶ 177.  This 

navigability finding includes the area receiving discharges from the Biofilter.   The 

ALJ‘s factual finding is binding here. See Froebel v. Meyer, 13 F. Supp. 2d 843, 858 

(E.D.Wis. 1998) (noting in a CWA case that in Wisconsin an ―ALJ Decision itself may 

carry preclusive effect‖ under state law); Acharya v. AFSCME, Council 24, etc., 146 Wis. 

2d 693, 697 (Ct. App. 1988) (―When an administrative agency is acting in a judicial 

capacity and resolves disputed issues of fact properly before it which the parties have 

had an adequate opportunity to litigate, the courts have not hesitated to apply 

[collateral estoppel.]‖) (citing United States v. Utah Constr. & Min. Co., 384 U.S. 394, 422 

(1966)).13 

 Stream C is therefore, a ―navigable water‖ subject to the Clean Water Act‘s 

protections and meeting the fourth element of Plaintiffs‘ claim. 
                                                 

12 The 1991 hearing was a formal contested case hearing on Defendant‘s multiple permit 
applications filed with the WDNR to construct and operate the Flambeau Mine, including its application 
for a Mining Permit, a WPDES permit (no longer existing), and a permit under Wis. Stat. ch. 30 to change 
the course of and place culverts on the bed of Stream C (including that segment of Stream C adjacent to 
the Biofilter).  PPFOF ¶ 173. 

13 Defendant admits in this case that Stream C is navigable between Copper Park Lane (which 
crosses Stream C approximately 75 yards downstream from the Biofilter‘s Outlet, PPFOF ¶ 175) and the 
Flambeau River.  PPFOF ¶ 174. 

Case: 3:11-cv-00045-bbc   Document #: 53   Filed: 11/16/11   Page 40 of 58



35 
 

2. Stream C is a Tributary to the Larger, Navigable Flambeau River, 
and Therefore is a “Navigable Water” Under the CWA.  

 
Even if Stream C were not itself navigable in fact during high water periods, it is 

still a ―water of the United States‖ under EPA‘s long-standing and binding definition of 

that statutory phrase because it is a tributary to the navigable Flambeau River.  40 

C.F.R. § 122.2(e) (defining ―water of the U.S.‖ to include tributaries).  A tributary is, 

simply, a ―stream which contributes its flow to a larger stream or other body of water.‖ 

Headwaters, Inc. v. Talent Irrigation Dist., 243 F.3d 526, 533 (9th Cir. 2001) (citing Random 

House College Dictionary 1402 (rev. ed. 1980)).  For this undisputed reason, Stream C is 

a ―navigable water‖ to meet the third element of Plaintiffs‘ claim.    

When it passed the CWA, Congress understood that water ―moves in hydrologic 

cycles and it is essential that discharge of pollutants be controlled at the source,‖ and 

thus improving water quality required ―broad federal authority to control pollution.‖ 

United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 132-133 (U.S. 1985) (quoting 

S. Rep. No. 92-414, p. 77 (1972)).   For this reason, the Supreme Court has long 

recognized that Congress intended the CWA to extend its protections to some waters 

that are not navigable in the traditional sense.  Id. at 133; Solid Waste Agency of Northern 

Cook County v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 531 U.S. 159, 167 (U.S. 2001) (―SWANCC‖).  

As the Fourth Circuit has aptly noted, ―any pollutant . . . that degrades water quality in 

a tributary of navigable waters has the potential to move downstream and degrade the 

quality of the navigable waters themselves.‖  United States v. Deaton, 332 F.3d 698, 707 

(4th Cir. 2003).  To hold otherwise would allow tributaries to ―be used as open sewers‖ 
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such that downstream navigable waters ―become a mere conduit for upstream waste.‖  

United States v. Ashland Oil & Transp. Co., 504 F.2d 1317, 1326 (6th Cir. 1974). 

Consistent with this congressional intent and an understanding of the hydrologic 

connections between surface waters, the EPA has long defined ―waters of the United 

States‖ to include, inter alia:  

(a) All waters which are currently used, were used in the 
past, or may be susceptible to use in interstate or foreign 
commerce, including all waters which are subject to the ebb 
and flow of the tide; 

(b) All interstate waters, including interstate ―wetlands;‖ 

(c) All other waters such as intrastate lakes, rivers, streams 

(including intermittent streams), mudflats, sandflats, 
―wetlands,‖ sloughs, prairie potholes, wet meadows, playa 
lakes, or natural ponds the use, degradation, or destruction 
of which would affect or could affect interstate or foreign 
commerce including any such waters: (1) Which are or could 
be used by interstate or foreign travelers for recreational or 

other purposes; (2) From which fish or shellfish are or 

could be taken and sold in interstate or foreign commerce; 
or (3) Which are used or could be used for industrial 
purposes by industries in interstate commerce; [and] 

*** 

(e) Tributaries of waters identified in paragraphs (a) 

through (d) of this definition; 

 
40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (emphasis added).  The plain language of this regulation, which clearly 

defines ―waters of the United States‖ to include tributaries, has been upheld and 

applied by numerous courts as fully consistent with the CWA.  See, e.g., Id.; Illinois v. 

Outboard Marine Corp., 619 F.2d 623, 628 (7th Cir. 1980), rev. on other grounds, Outboard 

Marine Corp. v. Illinois, 453 U.S. 917 (1981); United States v. Ashland Oil & Transp. Co., 504 

F.2d 1317 (6th Cir. 1976); Parker v. Scrap Metal Processors, Inc., 386 F.3d 993 (11th Cir. 
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2004), reh’r en banc denied, 125 Fed. Appx. 979 (11th Cir. 2004).  It is also deserving of 

deference under Chevron U. S. A. Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 

837, 842-845 (1984); see Riverside Bayview, 474 U.S. at 131. 

 Stream C is indisputably a tributary of the Flambeau River and therefore is a 

water of the United States under EPA‘s regulatory definition.  Defendant admits that 

Stream C is a tributary to the Flambeau River that flows over the southeastern corner of 

the Industrial Outlot.  PPFOF ¶ 176.  Defendant further admits that when Stream C is 

flowing, it contributes its flow to the Flambeau River.  PPFOF ¶ 178.  Further still, 

Stream C was found by WDNR in 1991 to be a ―tributary to the Flambeau River‖ that 

―enters the Flambeau River‖ downstream from the Flambeau Mine.  PPFOF ¶¶ 171, 176. 

Therefore, even assuming arguendo that Stream C is not itself navigable, it 

nonetheless is a ―water of the United States‖ under the Act because it is indisputably a 

tributary to the navigable Flambeau River and, thus, meets the fourth element of 

Plaintiffs‘ claim.  40 C.F.R. § 122.2(e).   

3. In the Alternative, Stream C is a “Navigable Water” Because it 
Has a “Significant Nexus” with the Flambeau River as a Matter 
of Law.  

 
As explained above, Stream C‘s status as both a navigable stream and a tributary 

to the Flambeau River is sufficient to determine that it is subject to the CWA, and 

Plaintiffs should prevail on either of those bases alone.  The Supreme Court‘s holding in 

Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715 (2006) is not to the contrary, because it neither 

changed pre-existing law with regard to tributaries nor undercut EPA‘s long-standing 

regulatory definition as specifically applied to tributaries.   
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However, some lower courts have chosen to apply the Rapanos ―significant 

nexus‖ test to tributaries.14  Even if this Court does not find Stream C to be subject to the 

CWA as navigable itself, or as a tributary to a navigable river, and applies the Rapanos 

decision instead, Stream C satisfies the definition of ―waters of the U.S.‖ under Rapanos 

based upon undisputed facts showing that it has a ―significant nexus‖ with the 

Flambeau River.  This nexus is manifested primarily by the stream‘s undisputed 

transport of pollutants downstream to the Flambeau River, and is additionally 

supported by the significant physical, chemical, and biological interrelationship 

between Stream C and the Flambeau River.  Based upon these undisputed facts, a 

significant nexus is established here and Plaintiffs are entitled to a finding that Stream C 

is a ―water of the United States.‖ 

(a) The Supreme Court‘s Rapanos decision applies only in the 
context of wetlands, and does not control the facts of this 
case. 
 

In Rapanos, the U.S. Supreme Court addressed the statutory phrase ―waters of the 

United States‖ in a factual scenario that is notably distinct from this case: the discharge 

of ―fill‖ material to wetlands adjacent to non-navigable tributaries.  547 U.S. at 723.  

Rapanos does not provide the controlling rule of law for this case because it addressed 

only the scope of the CWA as applied to wetlands regulated by the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers under CWA section 404, not the NPDES permit program at issue here. 

Moreover, it did not involve a tributary with a clear surface connection to a river. 

                                                 
14 See, e.g., United States v. Vierstra, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28517, *14-15 (D. Idaho Mar. 18, 2011); 

United States v. Lippold, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 80513, *15 (C.D. Ill. Oct. 30, 2007). 
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The Rapanos plurality,15 in an opinion by Justice Scalia, began by explaining that 

the Court was addressing only ―the discharge of ‗dredged or fill material‘— which, 

unlike traditional water pollutants, are solids that do not readily wash downstream.‖  

Id.  The plurality held that ―those wetlands with a continuous surface connection to 

bodies that are ‗waters of the United States in their own right . . . are covered by the 

Act‖ while simultaneously acknowledging that its decision would not ―significantly 

affect[] the enforcement of‖ the NPDES program and should have little bearing outside 

of the wetlands context.  547 U.S. at 742-43.16  Justice Kennedy, in his concurring 

opinion, found that the existing federal regulation17 defining waters of the U.S. 

provided ―a reasonable measure of whether specific minor tributaries bear a sufficient 

nexus with other regulated waters to constitute ‗navigable waters‘ under the Act‖ and 

noted that the regulation was only questionable to the extent it was used to extend 

CWA protections to ―wetlands adjacent to tributaries.‖  Id. at 781.  Justice Kennedy 

explained that a  ―significant nexus‖ exists between a wetland and a downstream 

navigable water – meaning the wetland itself is a ―water of the U.S.‖ subject to CWA 

jurisdiction – when the wetland ―significantly affect[s] the chemical, physical, and 

                                                 
15 Rapanos was a fractured decision with no majority opinion.  Justice Scalia wrote for a four 

Justice plurality, while Justice Kennedy wrote a concurring opinion in which he explained the ―significant 
nexus‖ test.  A minority opinion, written by Justice Stevens, was joined by the remaining three justices.  
See United States v. Gerke Excavating, Inc., 464 F.3d 723, 724 (7th Cir. 2006). 

16 The plurality explicitly recognized that the wetlands program under CWA § 404 differs from 
the NPDES program under § 402 because it regulates pollutants that are ―typically deposited for the sole 
purpose of staying put‖ and therefore the ―interpretation‖ adopted by the Court should not ―significantly 
reduce the scope of‖ the NPDES program.  547 U.S. at 744-45. 

17 The Rapanos Court was construing the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers‘ definition of ―waters of 
the United States‖ at 33 CFR § 328.3(a), which is identical to EPA‘s definition at 40 C.F.R. § 122.2. 
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biological integrity‖ of that downstream water.  Id. at 779.  Thus, the majority of Rapanos 

was addressing only the test applicable to wetlands, rather than discharges directly to a 

flowing waterway. 

Several lower courts, in well-reasoned opinions, have agreed that Rapanos does 

not control when tributaries are at issue under the CWA.  See, e.g., San Francisco 

Baykeeper v. Cargill Salt Div., 481 F.3d 700, 707 (9th Cir. 2007) (holding that Rapanos was 

not controlling in a case about discharges to a pond as opposed to wetlands); United 

States v. Chevron Pipe Line Co., 437 F. Supp. 2d 605, 613 (N.D.Tex. 2006) (finding little 

guidance in Rapanos with regard to tributaries and thus applying prior case law).  For its 

part, the Seventh Circuit has found that Rapanos dealt with ―federal authority over 

wetlands‖ under the CWA and held only that Justice Kennedy‘s ―significant nexus‖ test 

controlled where there was an alleged discharge of fill material into wetlands without 

the requisite permit.  Gerke Excavating, 464 F.3d at 725.18  Thus, Rapanos is limited to the 

wetlands context and the Court should apply EPA‘s regulatory definition of ―waters of 

the United States‖ as discussed above.   

(b) Even if Rapanos applies to this case, a significant nexus exists 
as a matter of law. 
 

Even were Rapanos to provide the controlling test for this case, Stream C has a 

significant nexus with the Flambeau River because it delivers pollutants to the 

Flambeau River and has a significant effect on its physical, chemical and biological 

                                                 
18 The Seventh Circuit has also explained that the holdings of the Supreme Court‘s two prior 

―waters of the U.S.‖ cases, Riverside Bayview and SWANCC, were similarly narrow and do not affect CWA 
jurisdiction outside of the wetlands context.  United States v. Rueth Dev. Co., 335 F.3d 598, 604 (7th Cir. 
2003); United States v. Krilich, 303 F.3d 784, 791 (7th Cir. 2002).   
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integrity.  Because it turns on the construction of a statutory phrase, whether a 

significant nexus exists is a question of law.  Precon Dev. Corp. v. U.S. Army Corps of 

Eng'rs, 633 F.3d 278, 294 (4th Cir. 2011).  An extensive evidentiary showing is not 

required, and qualitative as well as quantitative evidence may be used to establish a 

significant nexus.  Id. at 293-94; United States v. Cundiff, 555 F.3d 200, 211 (6th Cir. 2009). 

Lower courts both before and after Rapanos have found evidence of downstream 

pollutant transport – or even the potential for such pollutant transport – to be 

dispositive of a finding that a tributary to a navigable river is itself a water of the U.S.  

As the Tenth Circuit has explained, ―the potential for pollutants to migrate from a 

tributary to navigable waters downstream constitutes a ‗significant nexus‘ between 

those waters.‖  United States v. Hubenka, 438 F.3d 1026, 1034 (10th Cir. 2006).  See also 

Cundiff, 555 F.3d at 211 n.4 (finding that ―if one dropped a poison into the [defendants‘] 

wetlands . . . it would find its way to the [downstream river], therefore indicating a 

significant chemical, physical, or biological connection‖ with that river); Northern 

California River Watch v. City of Healdsburg, 496 F.3d 993, 1001 (9th Cir. 2007) (finding a 

significant nexus largely due to a pond‘s delivery of chloride and other pollutants to a 

navigable water); United States v. Vierstra, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 28517, *14-15 (D. Idaho 

Mar. 18, 2011) (noting that the tributaries at issue were ―significant contributors of total 

suspended solids (sediment) and coliform bacteria to the [navigable] Snake River‖); 

United States v. Evans, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 94369, *21 (M.D. Fla. July 14, 2006) 

(recognizing that CWA jurisdiction can be established if the creek at issue ―was itself a 

covered water or conveyed the pollutant downstream to a covered water.‖). 
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This significant nexus by way of pollutant transport applies to tributaries that 

flow intermittently.  As recognized by the Ninth Circuit in United States v. Moses: 

[T]here is no reason to suspect that Congress intended to 
exclude from ―waters of the United States‖ tributaries that 
flow only intermittently. Pollutants ‗need not reach 
interstate bodies of water immediately or continuously in 
order to inflict serious environmental damage‘ . . . . Rather, 
as long as the tributary would flow into the navigable 
body of water “during significant rainfall,” it is capable of 
spreading environmental damage and is thus a “water of 
the United States” under the Act. 
 

496 F.3d 984, 989 (9th Cir. 2007), cert. denied, 554 U.S. 918 (2008) (quoting United States v. 

Eidson, 108 F.3d 1336, 1342 (11th Cir. 1997)) (emphasis added); see also Rapanos, 547 U.S. 

at 744-45 (CWA applies to discharge into intermittent channels of any pollutant that 

naturally washes downstream); Headwaters, 243 F.3d at 534 (finding an intermittent 

tributary to be a water of the U.S.).  Such a holding is, of course, well grounded in the 

overarching purpose of the CWA to control pollution ―at the source.‖ Riverside Bayview, 

474 U.S. at 133.   

Other relevant factors considered by lower courts in concluding that a significant 

nexus exists include physical factors (such as the proximity of the tributary to the 

downstream water; a hydrologic connection between the tributary and the downstream 

water; the presence of an obvious stream channel with defined bed and banks and a 

high water mark; and the presence of culverts which indicate an expectation of 

recurring flow) as well as biological factors (such as the presence of fish or other aquatic 

species; the ability of the tributary to provide habitat for such species; and the ability of 

the tributary to provide a source of food, nutrients, or other organic matter for use by 
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aquatic species in the downstream waters).  See, e.g., Moses, 496 F.3d at 991; Cundiff, 555 

F.3d at 211 and 211 n.5; Healdsburg, 496 F.3d at 1000-01; United States v. Donovan, 2010 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75144 at *14-*15, aff’d, No. 10-4295 (3d Cir., Oct. 31, 2011); United States 

v. Lucas, 516 F.3d 316 (5th Cir. 2008). 

First, a significant nexus exists between Stream C at the Biofilter‘s Outlet and the 

Flambeau River as a matter of law because of the stream‘s known delivery of pollutants, 

including copper and zinc, to the Flambeau River, thereby affecting the river‘s chemical 

integrity.  PPFOF ¶¶ 92, 179-182.  Defendant has admitted on numerous occasions that 

the water discharged from the Biofilter contains copper and zinc, and that those waters 

―ultimately‖ reach the Flambeau River.  PPFOF ¶¶ 79, 81, 83, 86-87.  Moreover, 

Defendant‘s own water quality data, which it has collected on a regular basis since 

approximately 2004, show that copper and zinc are present in Stream C (including 

immediately below the Biofilter‘s Outlet and immediately below Copper Park Lane) 

and are transported downstream to the Flambeau River.  PPFOF ¶¶ 189-198. 19  This 

pollutant transport has been confirmed by WDNR though recent monitoring of the 

waters of Stream C.  PPFOF ¶¶ 182-188, 199-200.  The transport of pollutants from 

Stream C to the Flambeau is not genuinely in dispute, and establishes a significant 

nexus as a matter of law.  Moses, 496 F.3d at 989; Cundiff, 555 F.3d at 211; Hubenka, 438 

F.3d at 1034.   

                                                 
19 Defendant‘s Stream C monitoring activities since 2004 have been driven by its efforts to deal 

with the metals contamination within the Industrial Outlot‘s soils, PPFOF ¶¶ 80, 83, 136-139, and are 
further required by an agreement reached as part of the administrative proceedings leading to issuance of 
Defendant‘s Certificate of Completion of Reclamation (―COC‖) in 2007.  PPFOF ¶ 148.  That COC covers 
only the mine pit; the Industrial Outlot has not yet been issued a COC and thus remains in active 
reclamation.  PPFOF ¶ 147. 
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Second, Stream C has a significant physical and biological connection to the 

Flambeau River.  Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 780.    Stream C contributes its flow to the 

Flambeau River.  PPFOF ¶¶ 79, 81, 83, 86, 176-178.  Although it flows intermittently, 

flow has been well-documented.  PPFOF ¶¶ 213-221.  Its headwaters lie upstream from 

the Biofilter‘s Outlet, to the east of Highway 27 where water first collects and flows 

under the first of four metal culverts on its short, 0.6-mile path to the Flambeau River, 

PPFOF ¶¶ 170-172, 201-203.  The upper approximately 0.1-mile section of Stream C, 

where it crosses over Defendant‘s Industrial Outlot, has an obvious flow path and 

collects flow from the surrounding lands as well as from the Biofilter.  PPFOF ¶¶ 203, 

205-206, 208, 212.  Four metal culverts in Stream C (two of which are upstream of the 

Biofilter, and two of which are downstream) indicate an expectation of recurring flow.  

PPFOF ¶ 203.  Each of these metal culverts has a visible water line and signs of water 

staining.  PPFOF ¶ 204.  Downstream of Copper Park Lane Stream C has a clearly 

defined bed and banks and an obvious stream channel.  PPFOF ¶¶ 210.  Stream C 

provides habitat for at least six species of fish, PPFOF ¶¶ 222-223, fish that move 

between Stream C and the Flambeau River and use Stream C for habitat, reproduction, 

and feeding.  PPFOF ¶ 224-225.  For these reasons, too, Stream C has a significant nexus 

with the Flambeau River. 

These uncontroverted facts establish that Stream C has a significant nexus with 

the Flambeau River as a matter of law because it transports pollutants to the river and it 

affects the river‘s physical, chemical, and biological integrity.  Thus, even if the Court 
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determines that Rapanos applies to this case, Stream C is a water of the United States 

and Plaintiffs have satisfied the ―navigable water‖ element of their claim.   

E. Alternatively, Stream C is a Continuation of the “Point Source” that 
Delivers Pollutants to the Navigable Flambeau River. 20 

 
Even if the Court finds that Stream C is not a ―navigable water‖ in its own right 

by way of the alternative tests presented above (i.e., because it is navigable, a tributary 

to a navigable river, or shows a significant nexus with the Flambeau River), it should 

still find for the Plaintiffs on liability because Defendant is ―indirectly‖ discharging 

pollutants from the Biofilter (and other locations) to the Flambeau River by way of 

Stream C, which is itself a ―point source‖ under the CWA.  Thus, Stream C, 

alternatively, meets the fourth element of Plaintiffs‘ claim as a ―point source.‖   

This ―stream channel as a point source‖ approach to CWA jurisdiction over 

intermittent streams was expressly endorsed by the plurality in Rapanos.21  547 U.S. at 

743 (recognizing that the CWA prohibits even indirect point source discharges and 

citing favorably to cases in which found that ―upstream, intermittently flowing 

channels themselves constitute ‗point sources‘ under the Act.‖).  A number of lower 

                                                 
20 Plaintiffs urge the Court to give weight to the overarching objective of the CWA, the 

controlling language of U.S. EPA‘s regulatory definition of ―waters of the U.S.,‖ the clear precedent 
finding CWA jurisdiction over tributaries that deliver pollutants to downstream navigable waters, and 
EPA policy justifying the protection of small headwaters tributaries by finding that Stream C is, itself, a 
―water of the United States.‖  Nonetheless, given the established movement of pollutants (including 
copper and zinc) from the Biofilter to the undisputedly navigable Flambeau River, Plaintiffs make this 
argument in the alternative. 

21 The Rapanos plurality cited approvingly to a number of cases that applied this theory, including 
United States v. Velsicol Chemical Corp., 438 F. Supp. 945, 946-947 (WD Tenn. 1976); Sierra Club v. El Paso 
Gold Mines, Inc., 421 F.3d 1133, 1137, 1141 (10th Cir. 2005); United States v. Ortiz, 427 F.3d 1278, 1281 (10th 
Cir. 2005); Dague v. Burlington, 935 F.2d 1343, 1354-1355 (2d Cir. 1991), rev'd on other grounds, 505 U.S. 
557(1992); and Concerned Area Residents for Environment v. Southview Farm, 34 F.3d 114, 118-119 (2d Cir. 
1994). 
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courts have followed suit.  See, e.g., United States v. Lucas, 516 F.3d 316, 332-333 (5th Cir. 

2008) (applying Justice Scalia‘s ―intermittent-channel-as-point-source‖ theory to 

overflowing septic systems); United States v. Evans, 2006 WL 2221629 at *21 (M.D. Fla. 

2006) (―CWA jurisdiction can be established in this case if [the tributary]. . . conveyed 

the pollutant downstream to a covered water.‖).   

Defendant‘s discharges through Stream C into the Flambeau River are also 

subject to the Clean Water Act because Stream C is serving as a ―point source‖ that 

directly conveys pollutants from the Biofilter to the Flambeau River.  Pollutants 

including copper and zinc indisputably move downstream along the roughly half-mile 

stretch of Stream C between the Biofilter and the Flambeau River, carried by its 

intermittent flows and the pull of gravity.  PPFOF ¶¶ 79, 81, 83, 86, 92, 178-180, 182. 

This much is demonstrated by Defendant‘s own water quality monitoring activities 

since at least 2004.  PPFOF ¶¶ 189-200. 22  Coupled with Defendant‘s multiple 

admissions that water (and pollutants) are discharged from the Biofilter into Stream C 

and ―ultimately‖ into the Flambeau River, PPFOF ¶¶ 78-79, 81, 83, 86, CWA liability is 

established over the discharges on the days noted above.  Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 745 

(noting that a conveyance such as a stream can be a ―point source‖ where ―the 

contaminant-laden waters ultimately reach covered waters,‖), id. at 743 (recognizing 

that this is readily established for tributaries since pollutants ―naturally wash[ ] 

downstream‖); see Table 1, Section III.A., supra. 

                                                 
22 The factual basis for Plaintiffs‘ ―intermittent stream as point source‖ argument is largely the 

same as that regarding Stream C‘s nexus with the Flambeau River by way of pollutant transport.  See 
discussion at pages 40-43, infra. 
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Because Defendant has (1) added (2) pollutants (3) from a point source (4) to 

navigable waters, it is liable under § 301(a) unless its discharges are in compliance with 

the substantive requirements of the CWA discussed below.   

 F. Defendant’s Discharges Are Not Authorized By An NPDES Permit.  
 

Defendant‘s discharges of pollutants from the Biofilter to Stream C and the 

Flambeau River as addressed above are not lawful because they are not ―in compliance 

with‖ (among other substantive requirements) an NPDES permit under section 402.  See 

33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342(a), (p)(2)(B).  In particular, under section 402(p), stormwater 

discharges ―associated with industrial activity‖ expressly require a NPDES permit.  33 

U.S.C. §§ 1342(p)(1), (2)(B) (providing an exception, among others, to the general rule 

that stormwater discharges do not require a permit if the discharge is ―associated with 

industrial activity‖).  Defendant‘s Biofilter discharges involve discharges of stormwater 

―associated with industrial activity,‖ because they consist of runoff from the Industrial 

Outlot, which is the site of ongoing industrial activities and  of the former mining 

material handling, storage, and disposal areas.  33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a); 1342(p)(3).  The 

Industrial Outlot is leased by FMC to the Ladysmith Community Industrial 

Development Corporation, and it houses a WDNR service center and a maintenance 

shop used by the utility Xcel Energy.  PPFOF ¶ 76.  The stormwater discharges are also 

associated with the industrial activity from the former mine, including a run-off pond, 

surge pond, wastewater treatment facility, laboratory, a truck ready line, a rail spur, 

portion of the high-sulfur waste rock storage pile, an access road and parking area, and 

other facilities used for mining operations.  PPFOF ¶¶ 72-75, 138, 141.  Each stormwater 
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discharge from the FMC Biofilter is therefore an unlawful event because there is no 

NPDES permit authorizing it.  

Because Defendant does not hold an NPDES permit authorizing its discharge, 

and because its Mining Permit is not a ―permit issued pursuant to‖ section 402 of the 

CWA, Plaintiffs satisfy the fifth element of their claim, and Defendant is liable for each 

of its unlawful pollutant discharges.  Beartooth Alliance, 904 F. Supp. at 1172.   

1. NPDES Permits are Crucial to the Integrity of the Clean Water Act 
and are the Only Means an Agency may Authorize a Point Source 
Discharge. 

 
The centerpiece of the Clean Water Act‘s regulatory framework is the NPDES 

permitting program established under section 402 of the Act.  As recognized long ago 

by the Seventh Circuit, section 301(a)‘s prohibition on pollutant discharges works hand-

in-hand with the NPDES permit program: 

The cornerstone of the Act's scheme for cleaning up the 
nation's waters is § 301(a)'s prohibition against ―the 
discharge of any pollutant by any person‖ except as 
specifically permitted by administrative action taken 
pursuant to specified sections of the Act.  [A discharger] may 
obtain permission to discharge pollutants by applying for an 
NPDES permit under § 402. . . . A permit, which is issued 
upon application and after opportunity for a public hearing, 
states the pollutants and amounts thereof that may be 
discharged at each of the plant's outfalls, and imposes 
conditions upon those discharges. A permit thus transforms 
―generally applicable effluent limitations and other 
standards - including those based on water quality - into 
obligations (including a timetable for compliance) of the 
individual discharger.‖ 

 
U.S. Steel Corp. v. Train, 556 F.2d 822, 829-830 (7th Cir. 1977) (quoting EPA v. California ex 

rel. State Water Resources Control Board, 426 U.S. 200, 205 (1976)); see also Atlantic States 
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Legal Found. v. Stroh Die Casting Co., 116 F.3d 814, 818 (7th Cir. 1997) (outlining the 

NPDES program). 

NPDES permits are so critical to the Act‘s regulatory program that they provide 

the sole means by which point-source discharges of pollutants to navigable waters may 

comply with the CWA.  Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc. v. Costle, 568 F.2d 1369, 1374, 1377 

(D.C. Cir. 1977) (―the legislative history makes clear that Congress intended the NPDES 

permit to be the only means by which a discharger from a point source may escape the 

total prohibition of [CWA §] 301(a).‖).  Absent an NPDES permit, section 301(a)‘s 

prohibition is absolute and self-executing.  Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Consumers Power Co., 

862 F.2d 580 (6th Cir. 1988); N. Plains Res. Council v. Fid. Exploration & Dev. Co., 325 F.3d 

1155, 1160 (9th Cir.2003); see also Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. Macklin, 361 F.3d 934, 946 (7th 

Cir. 2004) (―in order to avoid liability under the CWA, a defendant who wishes to 

discharge a pollutant must first obtain a permit . . . under § 1342.‖).   

2. Defendant Does Not Hold an NPDES Permit Authorizing its 
Biofilter Discharges. 

 
Quite simply, Defendant‘s discharge from the Biofilter into Stream C and the 

Flambeau River is not authorized by an NPDES permit under CWA §402.  PPFOF ¶ 228, 

234-235.  No NPDES or WPDES permit has been in effect for any portion of the 

Flambeau Mine since Defendant‘s prior WPDES permit was terminated on or about 

September 23, 1998.  PPFOF ¶¶ 227-228.  Nor is Defendant‘s Mining Permit, which has 

been in effect since 1991 (and was subsequently modified in 1998) an NPDES permit 
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under section 402.23  As explicitly stated in Defendant‘s Mining Permit, regulatory 

approvals granted by that permit were ―limited to the authority vested in‖ WDNR by 

Wisconsin‘s metallic mining law.  PPFOF ¶ 229-231.  In fact, Defendant‘s Mining Permit 

instructed Defendant to ―obtain any and all other permits, licenses and approvals 

necessary from federal, state and local authorities.‖ PPFOF ¶ 230.  Defendant did just 

that during the 1990s– it obtained a WPDES Permit in 1991 (and reissued in 1996) that 

authorized, inter alia, certain limited discharges of stormwater to the Flambeau River 

through September 23, 1998.  PPFOF ¶ 227.   

In any event, WDNR has disavowed any notion that Defendant‘s 1991 Mining 

Permit or 1998 Modification either (a) authorized stormwater discharges from the 

Flambeau Mine site, including from the Biofilter, or (b) are ―permits issued pursuant to‖ 

CWA § 402 or even pursuant to Wisconsin‘s EPA-approved NPDES permit program.  

PPFOF ¶¶ 232-235.  Because Defendant does not hold a validly issued NPDES permit 

authorizing its discharge of pollutants to Stream C or the Flambeau River, it cannot 

escape liability for its point source pollutant discharges to Stream C and the Flambeau 

River and Plaintiffs are entitled to summary judgment regarding Defendant‘s liability 

for the discharges addressed above. 

The undisputed facts show that Defendant has discharged toxic pollutants from 

the Biofilter to Stream C and the Flambeau River repeatedly since at least 2004 without 

an NPDES permit required by the Clean Water Act.  These discharges are ongoing and 

                                                 
23 Plaintiffs briefly address Defendant‘s 1991 Mining Permit because Defendant has asserted that 

it provides Defendant with a ―permit shield‖ pursuant to § 402(k) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(k).  See 
Dkt. 18-1.  Defendant‘s argument is without merit. 
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will continue unless and until the Court orders Defendant to comply with the Act. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Defendant is liable for its discharges of pollutants 

without a permit in violation of CWA § 301(a), codified at 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), and 

Plaintiffs respectfully request the Court grant their motion for partial summary 

judgment finding Defendant liable. 
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